Copyright © 2010 • Magnolia Press

**Editorial** 



# *Bionomina*, a forum for the discussion of nomenclatural and terminological issues in biology

#### Alain DUBOIS

Reptiles & Amphibiens, UMR 7205 OSEB, Département de Systématique & Evolution, Muséum national d'Histoire naturelle, CP 30, 25 rue Cuvier, 75005 Paris, France. <a href="mailto:</a>-adubois@mnhn.fr>.

# **Table of contents**

Introduction	. 1
Nomenclature, terminology and related issues	. 2
General topics	.4
Nomenclature of taxa: a lively field	.4
Morphological and anatomical terminology	.6
Other terminologies in biology	.6
Evolving concepts, evolving terms	.7
Bionomina as a forum	.7
Editorial policy	. 8
Acknowledgements	. 9
References	.9

"No one wants to alter the language of common sense, any more than we wish to give up talking of the sun rising and setting. But astronomers find a different language better, and I contend that a different language is better in philosophy. (...) I conclude that common sense, whether correct or incorrect in the use of words, does not know in the least what words are. I wish I could believe that this conclusion would render it speechless."

Bertrand Russell 1953: 306-307

# Introduction

Science is an encounter between reality and language. It is based on objects and facts, apprehended through observation and experimentation, and on descriptive, predictive and explanatory concepts, models and theories, expressed through language. Accurate, unambiguous and universal communication is crucial for science to operate and develop. As well stated by clear-sighted scientists and historians of science like Ernst Mayr, an important, although often underrated, ground of disagreement, or of false agreement, among scientists, is the terminology they use. Not rarely, different colleagues or schools of thought erroneously think they disagree (or agree), simply because they use different terms for the same concept, or the same term for different concepts. Therefore scientific terms, i.e., simple *words*, play a crucial role in the scientific activity.

This is particularly true of biology, particularly of the fields that deal with the comparative and evolutionary aspects of this discipline (systematics, including phylogenetics, taxonomy and nomenclature, as well as comparative anatomy, ethology, ecology, biogeography, etc.). These disciplines have witnessed, especially in the last half-century, an unparalleled increase of technical terms designating particular concepts.

Some of these terms are in widespread use, whereas others appeared in a few publications only. A problematic fact is that different, more or less formal, "schools of thought", or simply groups of colleagues from different backgrounds and traditions, sometimes use different terminologies, which may render communication among them difficult or faulty. This is aggravated by the contemporary specialization into distinct disciplines (which tend to employ different terms, concepts and methods), combined with the fact that many questions in current biology require interdisciplinary collaboration across different fields. This problem has long been identified as a major one in the domain of biological nomenclature, where it has soon been recognized that, if communication about living organisms was to be universal and unambiguous, it was necessary to devise a set of regulations to identify and invalidate synonyms and homonyms, and to have a single scientific name for a given taxon within the frame of any given classification or taxonomy. This was followed by the implementation of the international Codes of nomenclature that are in force nowadays. However, similar issues also exist in many other branches of biology, and no "Code of terminology" has been devised and agreed upon concerning the terms to be used, even for well-identified concepts.

As a matter of fact, whereas in nomenclature the basic Principle used to establish the valid nomen of a taxon is Priority of publication (sometimes tempered by "usage"), no such Principle is in force for most other terminologies used in biology. Various guidelines have been and can be used to establish the preferred term for a given concept, such as priority, usage, appropriateness, etc. Given the absence of a general consensus on the "best" system, each case has to be considered separately, and the respective merits of the different proposals have to be compared and critically weighted.

There currently exists no journal in the world specifically devoted to terminological problems in biology. Although some journals focus on particular aspects such as zoological and botanical nomenclatures of taxa, none addresses general aspects of nomenclatural systems, or other terminological questions. The aim of this new journal, *Bionomina (International Journal of Biological Nomenclature & Terminology)* is to provide a forum for discussion in this field.

Even before we started publication, the title of the journal was the matter of a hot discussion among members of the Editorial Board. We finally chose the title *Bionomina* with a subtitle, although some of us were unhappy with a term coined by combining a Greek root ( $\beta$ io $\varsigma$ , *bios*, "life") with a Latin root (*nomen*, "name"). The majority of us thought that, despite being such a "chimera" (as are many other technical terms of contemporaneous language), this term was short, euphonious and clear for all biologists worldwide, and is further clarified by the subtitle. However, in a way, this debate was a kind of foreshadowing of the discussions we will have in the journal.

This refereed journal will exist in two versions, a traditional one on paper and an electronic version, both being distributed at the same date. The basic principles of functioning of this new journal will be the same as those of its sister publications *Zootaxa*, *Phytotaxa*, *Molluscan Research* and *Zoosymposia*, also published by Magnolia Press.

The following list of topics is given as an indication of the domains of biological nomenclature and terminology covered by the journal, but is not restrictive, and is liable to be expanded according to needs and suggestions from editors, readers and prospective authors.

#### Nomenclature, terminology and related issues

The words *nomenclature* and *terminology* are of frequent use in science. They refer to both the process of designing or choosing names for objects in a science or other discipline, and the resulting body or system of such names in a particular field. Although most users tend to prefer one of these terms in certain situations, dictionaries or internet sites are of little help to decide the "proper" sense of these terms, as both can be used interchangeably, according to the preferences of different persons or groups of persons. As such, they are a perfect illustration of one of the purposes of this new journal, which is to discuss the methods to be used to fix the "proper" meaning(s) of technical terms.

In this journal, no prescriptive use of these two terms will be in force, but authors are strongly encouraged to explain in which sense they are using them. A common practice is to call *nomenclature* the system of scientific names applied to formal taxa of organisms, whereas *terminology* designates the body of scientific or technical terms applied to biological objects, structures or concepts other than taxa. Nomenclature as such understood is part of the larger discipline of *systematics*.

The term *systematics* was derived from the Greek  $\sigma \dot{\sigma} \sigma \tau \mu \alpha$  (*systema*), "group, troup, system of doctrines, institutions, political constitution, philosophical system", used in the title of Linnaeus's series of books presenting his classification of nature, the *Systema Naturae*, the tenth (1758) and twelfth (1766, 1767) editions of which are particularly famous. Various meanings have been given to this term in the past, from a narrow one meaning taxonomy as defined below to a wide one covering all comparative domains of biology, including not only phylogenetics, taxonomy and nomenclature, but also comparative anatomy, ethology, ecology, biogeography, etc. This latter meaning of the term is adopted here.

The term *taxonomy* was coined by de Candolle (1813: 19) on the basis of the Greek word  $\tau \dot{\alpha} \xi_{1\zeta}$  (*taxis*), "order, arrangement"<sup>1</sup>. More than one century later, Meyer (1926: 127) coined the term *taxon* to designate any taxonomic unit, at any hierarchical level, recognized by a biologist, whether named or not. The concept was much older, since it appeared already in Linnaeus (e.g., 1758), who used for it the term *phalanx*, borrowed from the Greek  $\phi \dot{\alpha} \lambda \alpha \gamma \xi$ , "line of battle, order of battle". However, for more than one century and a half no general term was regularly used for this concept, although terms were used for some of these units, at some peculiar hierarchical levels or "ranks" (species, genus, family, class, etc.). Although it "looks like" being Greek, the term *taxon* is not a genuine Greek term, a fact which can be checked in any ancient Greek dictionary. As such, the use for it of the plural *taxa* is not justified and, according to grammarians (e.g., Quirk *et al.* 1972: 185), the regular plural *taxons* would probably be more correct, but the tradition of use of *taxa* is well-established and acknowledged by dictionaries, in English at least<sup>2</sup>.

The term *nomenclature* is traditionally used in biology in the restrictive sense it has in the titles of the international Codes of nomenclature that are currently in force for taxa of animals (Anonymous 1999), plants and fungi (McNeill *et al.* 2006), prokaryotes (Lapage *et al.* 1992; Euzéby 2007), viruses (Fauquet *et al.* 2005) and cultivated plants (Brickell *et al.* 2009). The term nomenclature was borrowed from the Latin *nomenclatura*, where it was based on the term *nomen* (plural *nomina*), "name". This latter term has long been used in zoological and botanical nomenclatures in expressions like *nomen nudum*, *nomen dubium*, *nomen oblitum*, etc. Dubois (2000) proposed to use it alone, without adjectives, as the technical designation of a "scientific name", i.e., a name formed and used in a manner complying with the formal Rules of a Code and with the purpose of designating a taxon formally recognized in a taxonomy. This use of the term is encouraged in *Bionomina*. This allows a clear distinction between scientific names and other kinds of "names" used in biology and particularly in nomenclature (vernacular names, names of authors of nomina and/or publications, names of localities, etc.).

A scientific classification or taxonomy of living organisms can be established and used without a nomenclature. In pre-Linnaean times, and even in the first works of Linnaeus, each taxon was designated by a long periphrasis or diagnosis, which was supposed to provide a list of characters allowing to differentiate a taxon from its close "allies". This method was still in force in the well-known works of Linnaeus (1753, 1758, 1766, 1767) for some taxa at intermediate ranks used in some cases between the basic and "mandatory" ranks of class, order, genus and species (see Dubois 2007). Still nowadays, in many works some taxa are recognized and diagnosed but not named, especially in the frame of new taxonomic arrangements resulting from recent cladistic analyses. Another alternative system to nomenclature is through the uses of letters, codes or numbers for taxa, i.e., *numericlatures* and related systems (see references to such systems in Dubois 2005: 369). Such systems are appropriate and sufficient for computer treatment of taxonomic data, but are not convenient for

<sup>1.</sup> The proper spelling for this term has been debated, and *taxinomy* appears to be the correct one (Pasteur 1976; Fischer & Rey 1983; Casevitz 1990), but *taxonomy* is usual in English. In French, both spellings *taxinomie* and *taxonomie* are in use, with a traditional preference for the former one.

<sup>2.</sup> In French, both plurals taxa and taxons are regularly used.

direct communication between humans, who normally use words to refer to objects or concepts (Dubois 2005).

Another useful term is *onymology* (Dubois 2000), to designate the field of the theory, epistemology and history of nomenclatural terms and concepts. It comes from the Greek root –ωνυμος (*onymos*), derived from ὄνομα (*onoma*), "name" and used in various classical Greek terms (άνώνυμος, ψευδώνυμος, ὁμώνυμος, etc.).

Finally, the word *terminology* (from the Latin *terminus*, "term", derived from the Greek  $\tau$ έρμα, "boundary, mark", and the Greek λόγος, "speech") is often used to designate any kind of process of naming objects or concepts other than taxa in biology, and the system of such terms resulting from this process. In this context, "term" can be a name, an adjective, a verb, or a combination of names, adjectives and/or verbs. This use of the word terminology is not mandatory in *Bionomina*, but any other use should be explicited.

## **General topics**

Two basic issues in terminology and nomenclature are *synonymy* (different terms used for the same concept or taxon) and *homonymy* (same term or similar terms used for different concepts or taxa). The problem of synonymy is amplified by the fact that the meaning of a term often *evolves* through time, and this process may result in the same term having different, and sometimes contradictory or incompatible, meanings, while being considered by many to be the "same" term. *Bionomina* will explore critically the various approaches that have been used in the past and that are currently used to decide which term should be kept as the valid one in such situations: priority of publication, widespread usage, "consensus" or tradition, appropriateness of the term for the concept at stake, length, palatability and "euphony", subsequent "more appropriate" redefinition, decisions of international scientific meetings, etc.—not to mention simple "personal preference" of some authors, without explicit rationale. Could a more general attitude and more precise guidelines be adopted? Should the same principles be applied to all situations, or should different principles be implemented in different domains? Debates on these crucial issues of terminology and nomenclature will be encouraged in *Bionomina*.

The problems posed by synonymy and homonymy are enhanced by the frequent lack of knowledge of the mere existence of synonyms and homonyms. *Bionomina* encourages the submission of manuscripts that attempt to address these questions and that provide ideas and techniques for solving them (e.g., the use of ontologies as controlled vocabularies in databases).

Terms are embedded in particular living languages. This situation has several important consequences, and needs to be considered from a linguistic perspective, which is rarely the case. Different languages will have different cultural backgrounds, and different ways to classify concepts. In one and the same language, different levels of language coexist, and the meaning of terms may vary accordingly. Authors often try to adapt their level of language to fit the aimed audience, which creates several sets of pseudo-synonyms. Merging the fields of biology and linguistics is a promising field of investigation.

Terminological problems involve problems of standardization and objectivisation. With the increasing importance of biological databases and with the exponentially increasing amounts of data produced in biology, knowledge and data management, their organization and their proper documentation become more and more important, and many biologists start to realize the necessity for standardizing data (Vogt 2009). *Bionomina* will address the aspects of this dynamic and promising field that are connected to language.

#### Nomenclature of taxa: a lively field

Several international Codes of nomenclature of taxa (i.e., formally recognized taxonomic groups of organisms) are currently in force, dealing with animals, plants and fungi, bacteria and viruses, and cultivated plants. In general, these different Codes follow the guidelines of the first Linnaean-Stricklandian-Candollean Codes of nomenclature of the 19<sup>th</sup> century, and they share some important (although often untold) features:

(1) they rely on a *Nomenclatural Founder Principle* (the status of a nomen being usually established in the publication where it is created, not through "usage" in subsequent works); (2) they are *theory-free* for the allocation of nomina to taxa (which is made automatically through ostension using "types" or onomatophores, not through intensional or extensional definitions of taxa); (3) they are based mainly on *Priority of publication* for establishing the valid nomina of taxa.

Although some of these Codes have been long in force, their basic Principles and many of their Rules are still the matter of lively debates. These debates have been intensified by recent proposals, such as that to shift publications of nomenclatural acts from paper to online media, and to require a mandatory online registration of nomenclatural acts. Discussions of these matters have been so far restricted to meetings and informal discussions among colleagues, as well as to online (i.e., semi-private) discussions in some internet "forums". Few such contributions have yet been published in permanent documents such as journals and books, partly because of a reluctance of some journals to publish some opinions. To progress, science needs free discussion, not censorship. Therefore the existence of an independent journal dealing with these questions in all freedom should promote the development of a healthy, unbiased debate.

Taxonomic nomenclature faces other important challenges. Although they rely on the same philosophical foundations, the Codes mentioned above use largely different terminologies, and Rules slightly or widely different in several important respects. This explains the failure, so far, of the attempts to unify these Codes under a single *Biocode*. For example, subjecting zoological and botanical nomina to the same Rules would unavoidably lead to change the nomina of many taxa either in one or in both these groups of organisms. The terminological differences regarding the formulation of the Rules, however, could easily be suppressed or greatly reduced by adopting a common terminology for the same concepts, if not a common Code.

Another recent development is the appearance of several alternative nomenclatural systems, based on different philosophical foundations, which are usually called "phylogenetic nomenclatures". This includes the *Phylocode*, supported by an international society. In such systems, the allocation of nomina to taxa is not theory-free, but is based on intensional definitions of taxa.

Important debates have raged in the last two decades between the supporters of "traditional" theory-free nomenclatural systems and those of theory-bound "phylogenetic" ones. Unfortunately, these debates have been carried out mostly by two distinct groups of authors who rarely met and seldom had direct dialogues. Apart from a few notable exceptions, the editorial boards of existing journals tend to favour one of these "schools", and tend to deny others the right to reply. The debates must be followed in different journals, that furthermore are not specifically dedicated to conceptual aspects of nomenclature and taxonomy, which results in the review processes for such manuscripts being often questionable. *Bionomina* intends to publish papers from different "schools", as well as debates and replies to previously published papers. Our Editorial Board is composed of professionals who recognize themselves in different "schools" or in no school at all.

An important problem of any discussion between the different "traditional" Codes of nomenclature, as well as of between them and alternative nomenclatural systems, is posed by the existence of different terminologies for the same concepts, or the use of the same terms for different concepts. Clarification of the debate between supporters of these different approaches to the nomenclature of organisms would be facilitated by the adoption of a common terminology for the designation of the basic concepts they use, such as "taxon", "rank", "category", "type", "available", "valid", "correct", etc.

Another domain poorly explored until now is the relationship that exists or may exist between formal taxonomic units recognized and named by taxonomists according to nomenclatural rules, and "informal" units of biodiversity recognized by ecologists, conservation biologists or other disciplines of comparative biology, and that receive designations (names, or codes, or numbers) incompatible with the current Codes of nomenclature (Dubois 2006). This is a promising domain of comparative terminology to the development of which *Bionomina* intends to contribute.

#### Morphological and anatomical terminology

Correct identification of homologous anatomical, morphological and functional characters, structures, tissues or organs, both across different organisms and during ontogeny, is a fundamental step of comparative and evolutionary biology. Language plays an important role in this process. Different terminologies used to designate identical or homologous structures result in misleading comparative, phylogenetic and evolutionary conclusions. Different traditions exist in different countries, languages or research "schools", which act as a brake against a unification of terminology in this domain.

Part of the linguistic problems of morphology results from the lack of a standardized, formalized and commonly accepted descriptive methodology and terminology, and the lack of a general rationale for the delimitation of morphological traits. Terms and descriptions therefore vary from author to author, the meaning of a term often changes through time, and morphological terminology is often restricted to a specific taxonomic group and cannot be easily transferred to others. This non-standardization can, in scientific practice, lead to identically described structures that are in fact not identical, or to divergent descriptions of one and the same morphological structure. Morphological terminology is often based on homology assumptions, and has problems with comparability, reproducibility and transparency. Some authors (e.g., Vogt *et al.* 2010) argue that homology must be strictly separated from the definition of types of morphological terms and concepts should be defined without reference to taxa and hypotheses of homology, preferably purely anatomically, and should clearly indicate the trait's active participation in a specific biological process. *Bionomina* will be open to discussion of this point of view and adverse ones.

#### Other terminologies in biology

Many other fields of biology, and particularly of comparative and evolutionary biology, involve terminologies that are the subject of lively discussions. Just to mention a few, they include all debates around the taxonomic and evolutionary terms "species", about concepts and terms dealing with speciation, with reproductive modes and patterns (including gametogenesis and modes of initiation of eggs's development, and various kinds of sexual and metasexual reproduction), with hybridization, with perturbation of developmental clocks, with genetic and epigenetic anomalies, with cladistic patterns of relationships, with evolutionary ecology, population biology, biogeography, conservation biology, biotic pollution, etc. All other biological disciplines, from neurosciences and physiology to genetics and molecular biology, also have terminological problems and questions. One example is how in developmental purposes, but this approach can turn out to be problematic for understanding the evolution of development (Love 2010). Any review and discussion relating to the terminologies of biology will be welcome in *Bionomina*.

Semantic discussions are not, as some put it, "pedantic" ones. Scientific errors, wasted effort and duplication could be avoided thanks to shared lucid rationalization of terminological practices and principles. These questions do not have only "theoretical" implications, but also social ones, considering the costs and time expenditure involved in having competing standards and criteria (as exemplified by adoption of single standards of measurement).

Modern biomedical databases contain enormous amounts of information and must be devised in such a way as to allow conservation of and access to this information in the future. This is not just an issue of terms and naming. Philosophically sound standards for structuring information using basic categories and bio-ontologies are needed, so as to ensure that computerized inferences drawn from these databases do not lead to inconsistent results (Smith *et al.* 2003; Vogt 2009).

## **Evolving concepts, evolving terms**

A balance must be sought, when dealing with terminological concepts, between the opposite needs to stabilize terminology (resulting in optimal communication) and to allow reflection in the language of the permanent evolution of scientific views and concepts. Critically important terms like individual, species, character, gene, homology, etc., have been conveying continuously changing meanings, thus often inviting people to abandon the old terms, or to add qualifications to them, or to replace a term with a multitude of specialized terms corresponding to different meanings of the old one. A *chronological* approach to terminological issues, as found for example in the *Chronological English Dictionary* (Finkenstaedt *et al.* 1970), would certainly be most enlightening and useful. The proper solution to these issues cannot result from a rigid attitude applied indiscriminately in all cases, but requires a proper critical survey of each situation, seeking for the best for unambiguous and universal communication between scientists worldwide and through time.

The definitions and uses of terms may change during history, but, even at one point in time, different definitions may be debated and favoured. It may appear uncontroversial that the historical change of scientific concepts is advantageous, but a critical approach is needed to ascertain why the novel definition is actually an improvement. It is not always clear whether having different conceptualizations is a problem or whether a context-sensitive use of scientific terms can within certain bounds be advantageous. Pluralists about species concepts clearly favour diversity of use, but here one could argue that one has to clearly distinguish separate species concepts under different terms. Even among molecular geneticists, there are several alternative definitions of the gene concept. Another example is the concept of evolutionary novelty, with different definitions being currently debated (Moczek 2008).

As new biological disciplines emerge and develop, and existing ones evolve or are revolutionized, researchers active in these areas could be encouraged to discuss translations and comparisons of their developing conceptual fields to already existing neighbouring or "foundational" fields or areas, focusing on terminological issues.

Terminological issues have important practical consequences in society. They interfere not only with the way science functions but also with the way it is received, understood or supported by decision-makers and politicians of science. Terminological changes have occurred in most domains of the intellectual, cultural and practical life, especially in the recent decades. They may be reflected in seemingly trivial matters like the names of institutions or of scientific disciplines. It is certainly not innocent if, in many countries and institutions, scientific disciplines like "zoology" or "embryology" do not appear any more, suggesting that real biological entities like "animals" or "embryos" are no more "objects of science" and that only concepts, like "evolution" or "development" are worthy of this status. A critical approach of these issues is needed, and will be offered a field of expression and discussion in *Bionomina*.

Other issues that will be explored in *Bionomina* are issues of terminology in relation with questions of human gender and of anthropomorphism in concepts and language (Bleier 1984; Hoquet 2009), as well as matters related to the translation of scientific terms and texts from a language to another one.

## Bionomina as a forum

Science progresses both by continuous increase of factual knowledge and theories, and by "revolutions" that challenge once admitted facts and theories. Debates, confrontations and even polemics are essential for the development of science, and freezing discussions and criticisms through any "conservative" system (either promulgated by States, or unofficial but dominant ideas imposed, e.g., by providers of salaries and funds for research, by research directors or simply by editors and referees of journals) hampers scientific progress.

Except in the domain of the nomenclature of taxa, the problems addressed in this journal will probably never be solved by a "Code" of any kind. The traditional Codes of nomenclature claim to respect the freedom of taxonomic thought, and except in a few situations they do so. But there is no "Code of taxonomy", and this

is fortunate. Several taxonomic "schools" exist and must be given the chance to publish their works in order for the whole scientific community to decide which one finally wins the agreement of most scientists. Science needs freedom to go on, not "official science" decided by committees and groups. Every time an "official" science has been promulgated, this has been at the expense of scientific progress: just remember Lysenko. Censorship is not a solution, and official lists of "authorized" terms, journals or research subjects neither. Science does not need "politically correct" thinking, it needs debates, contradictions and free expression of disagreement.

The tradition of discussion and confrontation of divergent opinions on all scientific matters was very lively in the scientific periodicals of the 19<sup>th</sup> and early 20<sup>th</sup> centuries, which often published papers defending opposite points of view, including sometimes several successive replies from either side. This tradition has weakened, and too few periodicals nowadays accept to publish "forums" confronting different opinions, most periodicals rather tending to adhere to a "school of thought".

The purpose of *Bionomina* is to open a space of free discussion among colleagues involved in or interested in all aspects of the terminology of comparative and evolutionary biology, including, but not limited to, taxonomy and nomenclature of taxa. Authors having different opinions are encouraged to present them in a documented and argued manner.

## **Editorial policy**

The Editorial Board (EB) of *Bionomina* is international and composed of competent specialists of the various domains of biological nomenclature and terminology to be covered by the journal, *and* willing to contribute to a collective discussion of these problems. People convinced that they hold the only and final "truth" and just want to express their ideas under an "argument of authority" approach are not invited to join our team. We need open-minded persons willing to participate in a debate.

Members of the EB will be in charge of scientific domains covered by their expertise (e.g., zoological and botanical nomenclature under their respective codes, *Phylocode*, evolutionary theory, taxonomic concepts, species and speciation, morphological terminology, etc.). Each manuscript will be sent directly by the author to one of them, who will act as Corresponding Editor (CE) for that paper. The CE will first check whether the manuscript does indeed fall within the editorial scope of the journal, and within his/her domain of expertise, and, if so, send it for advice to two or more referees, who can be either members of the EB, or not. If applicable and possible, the CE will select referees among different "schools". For each manuscript, after a dialogue between the author(s) and the CE, the final decision will be in the hands of the CE.

Compared with many other periodicals, however, members of the EB of *Bionomina* agree to review manuscripts submitted to the journal according to a distinction between two different kinds of comments: mandatory suggestions and simple recommendations. *Factual mistakes* (e.g., concerning the rules of the nomenclatural Codes, or regarding the history of concepts and terms) will be the matter of *objective proposals of change*. These must be followed by the authors to modify their manuscripts, and not doing will be a reason of rejection of the paper. Recommendations regarding the clarity of language and argumentation may also fall in this category, if the original is too obscure for a "normal" reader not being highly specialized in the field covered by the paper. On the other hand, *subjective recommendations*, based on *differences of opinions* between the author of the manuscript and the referee or CE, can be offered, but as *advice* aiming at clarifying the paper, replying to some potential criticisms and/or making it more convincing. Refusal to follow these suggestions should be briefly clarified by the author to the CE, but cannot be alone a reason for refusing the manuscript. In other words, no censorship will be exerted on the opinions of the authors. We consider that the author(s) of a paper, may be that it just paraphrases previous contributions on the same question, without bringing any new information or data. Opinions may be strongly defended by an author against different

opinions expressed in another contribution, provided this involves no *ad hominem* attacks against living or deceased colleagues, or against groups or institutions.

*Bionomina* intends to play several roles regarding nomenclature and terminology: (1) offering a historical and descriptive perspective regarding practices and traditions; (2) providing an epistemological approach about the different conceptions of nomenclature, terminology and philosophies of the naming process; (3) opening a forum for confronting different opinions; (4) seeking a balance between prescriptive or normative goals and descriptive, informative and clarifying aims, i.e. providing a precise and concise lexical starting point; and, (5) in cases where consensus emerges (possibly as a result of meetings), playing a role of proposition of methodologically more prescriptive recommendations to the international community of biologists.

## Acknowledgements

This text is in part the result of discussions among the group of people who supported the initiative of launching this journal and who now constitute its first Editorial Board. For these stimulating discussions, and/ or for their comments on previous versions of this text, I am most grateful to Erna Aescht (Linz, Austria), Yann Bertrand (Huddinge, Sweden), Olivier Béthoux (Black Mountain, Australia), Olaf Bininda-Emonds (Berlin, Germany), Ingo Brigandt (Edmonton, Canada), Michel Chauvet (Montpellier, France), Frédéric Chérot (Gembloux, Belgium), Bruno Dayrat (Merced, USA), Jean-Marc Drouin (Paris, France), Mark Epstein (New York, USA), Philippe Grandcolas (Paris, France), Werner Greuter (Berlin, Germany), Thierry Hoquet (Nanterre, France), Nikita Kluge (Saint-Petersburg, Russia), Michel Laurin (Paris, France), Valéry Malécot (Angers, France), Alessandro Minelli (Padova, Italy), Gerhard Scholtz (Berlin, Germany), Marc Van Regenmortel (Strasbourg, France), Lars Vogt (Berlin, Germany) and Zhi-Qiang Zhang (Auckland, New Zealand). Although I am indebted to them for some of the ideas or references above, their agreement with the totality of this text is not implied. The main purpose of this text is to present a new journal where the possible disagreements among us, and with others, will be freely discussed.

## References

- Anonymous [International Commission on Zoological Nomenclature] (1999) *International code of zoological nomenclature*. Fourth edition. London (International Trust for zoological Nomenclature): i–xxix + 1–306.
- Bleier, R. (1984) Science and gender. New York (Pergamon Press): 1–219.
- Brickell, C. D., Alexander, C., David, J. C., Hetterscheid, W. L. A., Leslie, A. C., Malécot, V., Xiaobai Jin & Cubey, J. J. (ed.) (2009) International code of nomenclature for cultivated plants. Eighth edition. *Scripta Horticulturae*,
  - Leuven (International Society for Horticultural Science), 10: 1–204.
- Casevitz, M. (1990) Taxi-? Taxo-? Revue française d'Entomologie, (n.s.), 12: 26-28.
- De Candolle, A. P. (1813) *Théorie élémentaire de la botanique, ou exposition des principes de la classification naturelle et de l'art de décrire et d'étudier les végétaux*. Paris (Déterville): i–viii + 1–527.
- Dubois, A. (2000) Synonymies and related lists in zoology: general proposals, with examples in herpetology. *Dumerilia*, **4** (2): 33–98.
- Dubois, A. (2005) Proposed Rules for the incorporation of nomina of higher-ranked zoological taxa in the *International Code of Zoological Nomenclature*. 1. Some general questions, concepts and terms of biological nomenclature. *Zoosystema*, 27: 365–426.
- Dubois, A. (2006) New proposals for naming lower-ranked taxa within the frame of the *International Code of Zoological Nomenclature. Comptes rendus Biologies*, **329** (10): 823–840.
- Dubois, A. (2007) Nomina zoologica linnaeana. In: Z.-Q. Zhang & W. A. Shear (ed.), Linnaeus tercentenary: progress in invertebrate taxonomy, Zootaxa, 1668: 81–106.
- Euzéby, J. P. (2007) Alterations to the bacteriological code (1990 revision). < http://www.bacterio.cict.fr/code.html>.
- Fauquet, C. M., Mayo, M. A., Maniloff, J., Desselberger, U. & Ball, L. A. (2005) Virus taxonomy. Classification and nomenclature of viruses. Eighth Report of the ICTV. San Diego (Elsevier): 566–567.

- Finkenstaedt, T., Leisi, E. & Wolff, D. (1970) A chronological English dictionary. Heidelberg (C. Winter): i–xvi + 1–1395.
- Fischer, J.-L. & Rey, R. (1983) De l'origine et de l'usage des termes *taxinomie taxonomie*. In: Documents pour l'histoire du vocabulaire scientifique, Paris (CNRS, Institut national de la langue française), **5**: 97–113.
- Hoquet, T. (2009) La sociobiologie est-elle amendable? Biologistes, féministes, darwiniennes face au paradigme de la sélection sexuelle. *Diogène*, **225**: 139–156.
- Lapage, S. P., Sneath, P. H. A., Lessel, E. F., Skerman, V. B. D., Seeliger, H. P. R. & Clark, W.A. (ed.) (1992) *International code of nomenclature of Bacteria (Bacteriological code 1990 revision)*. Washington, D.C. (American Society of Microbiology): i–xlii + 1–189.
- Linnaeus, C. (1753) Species Plantarum, exhibentes plantas rite cognitas, ad genera relatas, cum differentiis specificis, nominibus trivialibus, synonymis selectis, locis natalibus, secundum systema sexuale digestas. Holmiae (Laurentii Salvii). Vol. 1: [i–xii] + 1–560. Vol. 2: [i] + 561–1200 + [i–xxx].
- Linnaeus, C. (1758) Systema Naturae per regna tria naturae, secundum classes, ordines, genera, species, cum characteribus, differentiis, synonymis, locis. Editio decima, reformata. Tomus I. Holmiae (Laurentii Salvii): [i–iv] + 1–824.
- Linnaeus, C. (1766) Systema Naturae. Editio duodecima, reformata. Tomus I, Pars I. Holmiae (Laurentii Salvii): 1-532.
- Linnaeus, C. (1767) *Systema Naturae*. Editio duodecima, reformata. Tomus I, Pars II. Holmiae (Laurentii Salvii): 533–1327 + i–xxxiv.
- Love, A. C. (2010) Idealization in evolutionary developmental investigation: a tension between phenotypic plasticity and normal stages. *Philosophical Transactions of the royal Society*, (B), **365**: 679–690.
- McNeill, J., Barrie, F. R., Burdet, H. M., Demoulin, V., Hawksworth, D. L., Marhold, K., Nicolson, D. H., Prado, J., Silva, P. C., Skog, J. E., Wiersema, J. H. & Turland, N. J., (ed.) (2006) *International code of botanical nomenclature (Vienna Code) adopted by the Seventeenth International Botanical Congress, Vienna, Austria, July* 2005. Königstein (Koeltz): i–viii + 1–568.
- Meyer, A. (1926) Logik der Morphologie im Rahmen einer Logik der gesamten Biologie. Berlin (Julius Springer): i–vii + 1–290.
- Moczek, A. P. (2008) On the origins of novelty in development and evolution. *BioEssays*, **30**: 432–447.
- Pasteur, G. (1976) The proper spelling of taxonomy. Systematic Zoology, 25: 192–193.
- Quirk, R., Greenbaum, S., Leech, G. & Svartik, J. (1980) A grammar of contemporary English. 9<sup>th</sup> edition. Harlow (Longman): i-xii + 1-1120.
- Russell, B. (1953) The cult of "common usage". British Journal for the Philosophy of Science, 3 (12): 303–307.
- Smith, B., Williams, J. & Schulze-Kremer, S. (2003) The ontology of the Gene Ontology. In: Proceedings of the annual Symposium of the American medical Informatics Association, Washington DC, November 2003: 609–613.
- Vogt, L. (2009) The future role of bio-ontologies for developing a general data standard in biology: chance and challenge for zoo-morphology. Zoomorphology, 128 (3): 201–217.
- Vogt, L., Bartolomaeus, T. & Giribet, G. (2010) The linguistic problem of morphology: structure versus homology and the standardization of morphological data. *Cladistics*, **26** (3): 301–325.

■ Accepted by Alessandro Minelli: 29 April 2010. – Published: 24 December 2010.